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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT RRRE A A
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA -

THE INDIAN RIVERKEEPER,
Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 05-14005-CIV-MARRA
FEDERAL HIGHWAY
ADMINISTRATION; MARY E.
PETERS, in her official capacity as
Administrator of the Federal Highway
Administration; ROBERT WRIGHT, in
his official capacity as Acting Deputy
Division Administrator for the Florida
Division of the Federal Highway
Administration; JOSE ABREU, in his
official capacity as Secretary of the
Florida Department of Transportation;
and ST. LUCIE COUNTY, a political
subdivision of the State of Florida,

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
FOR DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

REQUEST FOR TEMPORARY
RESTRAINING ORDER

Defendants.
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INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief challenging Defendant
Federal Highway Administration’s (FHWA) failure to comply with environmental
laws before authorizing and funding a $29.4 million road “‘armoring” project
along thirteen miles of Indian River Drive in St. Lucie County, Florida.
Following Hurricane Jeanne on September 24, 2004, FHWA approved and funded
this road project through its “Emergency Relief” (“ER”) program, and in the
process, violated the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 42 U.S.C. §§
4321 et seq and the Administrative Procedure Act, S U.S.C. § 706(1) and (2)(A)

(APA). FHWA violated NEPA by not first preparing an environmental impact
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statement (“EIS™), or at a minimum an environmental assessment (“EA”), to
assess the environmental impacts of this project. Moreover, FHWA violated the
APA when it acted arbitrarily and not in accordance with the law in determining
that the road project was “categorically excluded” from NEPA documentation. A
limited number of repairs are “emergency repairs” eligible for a categorical
exclusion and the project has significant impacts on the ecological, recreational,
and economic values of the Indian River Lagoon System and Estuary.

Plaintift seeks relief from the failure of FHWA to carry out its statutory duties
under NEPA, and requests an order enjoining Defendant St. Lucie County from
completing the project unless or until FHWA completes an EIS or EA as required
by NEPA.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over plaintiff’s NEPA claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1331 (tederal question jurisdiction).

Plaintiff’s cause of action for its NEPA claim arises under the judicial review
provision of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706 et seq.

This Court may issue a declaratory judgment and further relief pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 2202 (declaratory and injunctive relief).

Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because
the cause of action arises in this district.

Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Unless this Court grants the requested
relief, FHWA’s actions will continue to cause irreparable harm to the

environment, to Plaintiff, and to the public in violation of federal law and the



public interest. No monetary damages or other legal remedy could adequately
compensate Plaintiff or the public for these harms. Plaintiff is a person adversely
affected or aggrieved by federal agency action within the meaning of section 702
of the Administrative Procedure Act.
PARTIES

PLAINTIFF

Plaintiff Indian Riverkeeper is a non-profit conservation organization,
incorporated in the State of Florida, with over 500 members in Florida. The
mission of the Indian Riverkeeper is to protect and restore the waters of North
America’s most diverse estuary, the Indian River Lagoon, through advocacy,
enforcement and citizen action. Indian Riverkeeper’s members include property
owners and fishing guides who are directly affected by local water quality.
Members regularly engage in outdoor recreation, wildlife viewing, and
educational activities on the Indian River Lagoon and intend to continue to use
and enjoy the lagoon for these purposes. The health of the Indian River Lagoon is
an important part of Indian Riverkeeper’s economic, recreational, and aesthetic
enjoyment. Indian Riverkeeper brings this action on behalf of its members whose
interests in the ecological, aesthetic, recreational, and economic values of the
Indian River Lagoon, have been, are being, and will continue being adversely
affected by FHWA’s failure to prepare an EIS or EA for this project as required
by NEPA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq.
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Defendant, FHWA, is a federal agency within the United States Department of
Transportation and is responsible for authorizing and funding the road project
through the agency’s ER program.

Defendant, Mary E. Peters, is Administrator of the FHWA. Defendant Peters
oversees the activities of the FHWA and is sued in her official capacity.
Defendant, Robert Wright, is the Acting Deputy Division Administrator of the
FHWA, Florida Division. Defendant Wright is responsible for administering the
Federal-aid highway program in the state and is sued in his official capacity.
Defendant, Jose Abreu, is the Secretary of the Florida Department of
Transportation (FDOT). In that capacity, Defendant Abreu is responsible for the
administration, operations. and activities of the FDOT, the agency responsible tor
hiring engineers, performing damage assessments and designing plans for the
project. Defendant Abreu is sued in his official capacity.

Defendant, St. Lucie County, is a political subdivision of the State of Florida.
Defendant St. Lucie County is the recipient of the federal funding and is the party
responsible for hiring contractors and carrying out the project.

STATUTORY BACKGROUND

NEPA AND IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS

The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) is our “basic national charter for
protection of the environment.” 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(a). NEPA’s essential
purpose is “to help public officials make decisions that are based on
understanding of environmental consequences, and take actions that protect,

restore, and enhance the environment.” 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(c).
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To accomplish its purpose, NEPA contains certain “action forcing” provisions
that compel federal agencies to consider the environmental effects of their actions.
Specifically, NEPA requires federal agencies to prepare an environmental impact
statement (EIS) for all “major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of
the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C).

The EIS must describe (1) the “environmental impact of the proposed action,” (2)
any “adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the proposal
be implemented,” (3) any “alternatives to the proposed action,” and (4) any
“irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources which would be involved
in the proposed action should it be implemented.” 1d.

An agency may first prepare a detailed environmental assessment (EA) to
determine whether a project poses significant environmental impacts. 40 C.F.R. §
1508.9. If the agency concludes in an EA that a project may have significant
impacts on the environment, then an EIS must be prepared. If an EA concludes
that there are no significant impacts to the environment, the federal agency must
provide a detailed statement of reasons why the project's impacts are insignificant
and issue a “finding of no significant impact” (FONSI). 1d. § 1508.13.

Federal agencies must prepare an EA or EIS prior to initiating any major federal
action so that the environmental impacts can be considered and disclosed to the
public during the decision-making process. 40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.2; 1502.5.

The NEPA implementing regulations are promulgated by The Council on
Environmental Quality (CEQ). 40 C.F.R. §§ 1500-1508. The regulations

describe three categories of agency action and specify the kind of agency review
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required for each. The categories are: (1) actions that require an EIS, 40 C.F.R.
§ 1501.4(a)(1); (2) actions that require an EA to determine whether an EIS is
necessary, 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4(c); and (3) actions that typically do not have a
significant effect on the human environment and thus qualify for a “categorical
exclusion” from the requirements for the preparation of an EA or an EIS, 40
C.F.R. §§ 1500.4(p), 1501.4(a)(2) and 1508.4. Individual agencies are required
to develop their own NEPA regulations based on the CEQ regulations and
determine the category covering a proposed action. 40 C.F.R. § 1507.3.

FHWA’S NEPA REGULATIONS

FHWA promulgated regulations that guide the agency in determining what
actions do and do not require the preparation of an EIS or EA. See 23 C.F.R. §
771. These regulations similarly define three classes of actions, and depending on
the class, define the level of NEPA documentation required: (1) Class I actions
affect the environment and require an EIS, 23 C.F.R. § 771.115(a); (2) Class I11
actions are actions in which the significance of the environmental impacts is not
clearly established and an EA needs to be prepared, 23 C.F.R. § 771.115(c); and
(3) Class II actions are “categorical exclusions” that do not require an EA or EIS.
23 C.F.R. § 771.115(b).

A categorical exclusion may only be granted if it includes no “significant
environmental impacts.” 23 C.F.R. § 771.117(a). Categorical exclusions are
“actions which: do not induce significant impacts to planned growth or land use
for the area, do not require the relocation of significant numbers of people; do not
have a significant impact on any natural, cultural, recreational, historic or other

resource; do not involve significant air, noise, or water quality impacts; do not
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have significant impacts on travel patterns; and do not otherwise, either
individually or cumulatively, have any significant environmental impacts.” Id.
Any action which normally would be granted a categorical exclusion but could
involve “unusual circumstances” will require the Administration, in cooperation
with the applicant, to conduct appropriate environmental studies to determine if
the categorical exclusion is proper. 23 C.F.R. § 771.117(b). Such unusual
circumstances include: (1) Significant environmental impacts; (2) Substantial
controversy on environmental grounds; (3) Significant impact on properties
protected by Section 4(f) of the DOT Act or section 106 of the National Historic
Preservation Act; or (4) Inconsistencies with any Federal, State, or local law,
requirement or administrative determination relating to the environmental aspects
of the action. Id.

A specific list of categorical exclusions normally not requiring NEPA
documentation is set forth in 23 C.F.R. § 771.117(c)(1)-(20) (emphasis added).
Included in this list is a categorical exclusion for “emergency repairs under 23
U.S.C. 125 See 23 C.F.R. § 771.117(c)(9).

THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY RELIEF PROGRAM AND
IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS

The ER program is a special program authorized by Congress for the repair or re-
construction of Federal-aid highways which have experienced serious damage as
a result of natural disasters. 23 U.S.C. § 125. Natural disasters include floods,
hurricanes, and severe storms. 23 C.F.R. § 668.103. The ER program assists
state and local governments in paying for “‘emergency repairs” made to Federal-

aid highways damaged by natural disasters. FHWA has promulgated regulations
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to guide the agency in administering federal funds for these emergency repairs.
See 23 C.F.R. § 668.

Emergency repairs that are eligible for federal funding under the ER program are
“those repairs including temporary traffic operations undertaken during or
immediately following the disaster occurrence for the purpose of (1) minimizing
the extent of damage, (2) protecting remaining facilities, or (3) restoring essential
traffic.” 23 C.F.R. § 668.103.

Emergency repair work to restore essential traffic, minimize the extent of damage,
or protect the remaining facilities, accomplished in the first 180 days after the
occurrence of the disaster, may be reimbursed at 100 percent of the federal share.
23 C.F.R. § 668.107.

FACTS GIVING RISE TO PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

INDIAN RIVER LAGOON

The Indian River Lagoon is considered by marine scientists as the most
biologically diverse ecosystem in North America. This brackish estuary stretches
156 miles along Florida’s east coast. It is home to more than 4,300 species of
plants and animals, including 37 that are listed as either endangered or threatened
— more than any other estuary in North America.

The lagoon is closely connected to the reef habitat of Florida's East Coast. It
provides habitat for many pelagic species that spend their early life cycle in the
seagrass beds of the shallow flats. Also, smaller fish that spawn in the lagoon
feed deepwater fish all along the eastern seaboard. Protection of the lagoon is

therefore vital to the protection of fisheries in the southern states.
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The lagoon is home to multi-million dollar fishing, tourism, agricultural and
recreational industries. The annual economic value of recreational fishing and
shell-fishing alone is estimated at $338.5 million.

The Lagoon was designated an Estuary of National Significance by the
Environmental Protection Agency in 1990, and an Aquatic Preserve and
Outstanding Florida Water as defined by the Florida Department of
Environmental Protection.

INDIAN RIVER DRIVE

Indian River Drive is a two-lane road that runs along the western shoreline of the
Indian River Lagoon. The road begins in Sewall’s Point (Martin County) and
extends north to Fort Pierce in St. Lucie County. The section of road at issue is a
12.9 mile continuous stretch that begins 0.8 miles north of the St. Lucie
County/Martin County line and ends just south of the City of Ft. Pierce.

THE INDIAN RIVER DRIVE ARMORING PROJECT

On September 24, 2004 Hurricane Jeanne made landfall in Sewall’s Point,
Florida. Among the roads impacted by the storm was Indian River Drive

in St. Lucie County.

Following the storm, St. Lucie County, hereinafter, referred to as the
“County,” entered into an agreement with FHWA and FDOT to receive
federal assistance to repair, stabilize and “armor™ a 12.9 mile stretch of
Indian River Drive. Under the terms of the agreement, FHWA agreed to
fund the entire $29.4 million project if the County successfully completed

the project within 180 days of the date of funding. The funds will be
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allocated to FDOT and FDOT will distribute the funds to the County upon
completion of the project. The County has until March 24, 2005 to
complete the project. If the project is not completed by March 24, 2005

the County is required to pay twenty percent of the remaining costs.

The stabilization project funded by FHWA utilizes an “armoring™ process in an
effort to make Indian River Drive more secure and prevent future erosion. The
armoring process begins with the removal of thousands of trees and plants along
the lagoon’s shoreline to make room for the armoring. The armoring consists of
nearly thirteen miles of articulated concrete blocks interlocked with wires. The
concrete blocks are positioned along the adjacent shoreline and exotic Bahia sod
is planted on a slope above the blocks. Additional dirt and fill is trucked in and
dumped along the banks of the lagoon in order to further “stabilize” the road.
FHWA categorically excluded the Indian River Drive armoring project and
determined that an EIS or EA was not required.

FHWA made a categorical exclusion for the project pursuant to 23 C.F.R. §
771.117(c)(9), which provides a categorical exclusion for “emergency repairs”
made under the ER program. Emergency repairs are one of the twenty
enumerated activities that normally do not require further NEPA documentation
by the agency. Id. (emphasis added).

However, as a threshold matter, the purpose of this project is not consistent with
the definition of “emergency repairs.” The road is open to local thru traffic and
large portions of the road experienced no washouts or other serious conditions

requiring emergency repairs. Moreover, the armoring and widening of the slope

10
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and supporting embankment goes far beyond what is necessary to protect the road
or minimize damage. In fact, most of the construction work is “heavy
maintenance” rather than emergency repairs. Heavy Maintenance is not eligible
for ER funding. See 23 C.F.R. § 668.109(c)(1).

Moreover, even if the project satisfies the definition of “emergency repairs,”
which normally does not require further NEPA documentation, the project
involves significant individual and cumulative environmental impacts, including
significant water quality impacts. The regulations forbid the FHWA from making
a categorical exclusion determination for a project that involves such significant
environmental impacts. 23 C.F.R. § 771.117(a).

The project will cause substantial adverse environmental impacts to fisheries,
recreation, and commercial industries in the area.

The project threatens to remove natural habitat for juvenile fish, crabs, and other
integral species along the water’s edge.

The turbidity barriers used by the County are inadequate to protect the lagoon
from the intrusion of dirt and fill dumped along the lagoon’s banks. The added
dirt will smother seagrasses growing along the shallow edges of the lagoon,
important habitat for such prized game fish as snook, speckled trout and red drum.
The dirt also causes the lagoon’s waters to become cloudy, blocking sunlight from
the seagrass beds and leaving the waters inhospitable to the endangered Florida
manatee and juvenile fish.

The armoring process calls for the removal of thousands of mature trees and

plants, but does not mandate the planting of native vegetation to replace the

1
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destroyed fauna. The removal of native plants will actually exacerbate erosion
problems and prevent the natural cleansing of urban runoff.

Lastly, any action which normally would be granted a categorical exclusion but
could involve *“unusual circumstances” requires the Administration, in
cooperation with the applicant, to conduct appropriate environmental studies to
determine if the categorical exclusion designation is proper. 23 C.F.R. §
771.117(b). Once again, even if the project includes emergency repairs which
normally would be granted a categorical exclusion, it presents unusual
circumstances. Specifically, the project includes significant environmental
impacts and substantial controversy on environmental grounds.

Faced with the possibility that unusual circumstances were present, FHWA did
not conduct the appropriate environmental studies to determine if the categorical
exclusion was proper. Upon information and belief, based on data gathered from
Plaintiffs’ public records request, the extent of environmental studies performed
on this project prior to the issuance of the categorical exclusion, consists of a one
and one-half page checklist, dated October 21, 2004." The checklist simply states
that the project poses no significant environmental impacts and concludes that a
categorical exclusion is appropriate. The checklist makes no mention of unusual
circumstances, includes no references to any studies performed on the project, and
provides no reasons in support of the agency’s decision. FHWA simply ignored

the possibility that this project included unusual circumstances and acted in

' The checklist evidencing a categorical exclusion determination was prepared by FDOT
and not FHWA. FDOT’s Project Development and Environment Manual (PD&E
Manual) indicates that NEPA categorical exclusion determinations may be made by
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accordance with a conclusory finding that the project satisfies the requirements of
a categorical exclusion.

Nevertheless, even if FHWA had conducted the appropriate environmental studies
during the decision-making process, the presence of these unusual circumstances

ultimately renders a categorical exclusion inappropriate for this project.

PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

CLAIM ONE (NEPA)

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference herein the allegations of the
above paragraphs.

FHWA’s authorization and funding of the $29.4 million Indian River Drive road
armoring project is a “‘major Federal action” under NEPA and the agency is
required to prepare an EIS or EA.

FHWA’s decision to categorically exclude the project is arbitrary and capricious
because it includes few “emergency repairs.”

Moreover, even if the project satisfies the definition of “emergency repairs,”
FHWA’s decision to categorically exclude the project is arbitrary and capricious
because the project includes significant environmental impacts.

Lastly, FHWA’s decision to categorically exclude the project is arbitrary and
capricious because the agency confronted the possibility of the project involving
certain unusual circumstances, and failed to perform even the most basic
environmental studies to determine the appropriateness of the categorical

exclusion.

FDOT; however, FHWA consultation and acceptance is still required. Florida
Department of Transportation, PD&E Manual (1997), http:// www.dot.state.fl.us.emo.
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By unreasonably determining that a categorical exclusion applies, FHWA has
thus unlawfully withheld required agency action to prepare an EIS or EA, and has
acted in a manner that is arbitrary, capricious, and otherwise contrary to law,
pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 706 (1) and
(2)(A).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiff requests that the Court enter an order:

I. declaring that FHWA’s actions in approving, funding, or otherwise
allowing the road armoring project on Indian River Drive, without
adequately analyzing the full range of impacts on the environment and
reasonable alternatives. are in violation of NEPA and the APA;

2. declaring that FHWA must withhold funding, approval, and authorization
of the project unless and until FHWA completes an EIS or EA pursuant to
NEPA,

3. declaring that Defendant Abreu, in his official capacity as Secretary of
FDOT, must refrain from performing activities in furtherance of this
project, including, allocating any additional federal funds to this project,
unless and until FHWA completes an EIS or EA pursuant to NEPA,

4, enjoining St. Lucie County from completing the project unless and until
FHWA completes an EIS or EA pursuant to NEPA;

5. awarding plaintiff its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs for this action;
and

6. granting plaintiff such other relief, as the Court may find just and proper.






